STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT No. 2008AP921

E-L ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

MILWAUKEE METROPOLITAN SEWERAGE DISTRICT,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District I Appeal From the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County, Honorable Richard J. Sankovitz, Presiding Milwaukee County Circuit Court Case No. 04-CV-00505

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PETITIONER MILWAUKEE METROPOLITAN SEWERAGE DISTRICT (Corrected)

FOLEY & LARDNER LLP G. Michael Halfenger (WBN 1024062) William J. Katt, Jr. (WBN 1066365) 777 E. Wisconsin Avenue Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 271-2400

INTRODUCTION

E-L Enterprises, Inc., sued the Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District and an insurer of one of the District's contractors. EL pleaded a tort: during sewer construction 15 years earlier on property neighboring EL's, the contractor allegedly removed too much groundwater. Removal of the groundwater, EL claimed, dried out the building's wood foundational piles, necessitating repairs.

EL's tort claims against the insurer survived summary judgment, and those parties settled. The circuit court properly dismissed EL's nuisance and negligence claims against the District as barred by governmental immunity. None of this is at issue.

At issue is a judgment that art. I, §13 of the Wisconsin Constitution renders the District liable for building repairs—that is, by causing incidental damage to EL's building, the District allegedly "took" EL's property for public use without providing just compensation.

Decades of precedent, however, hold that consequential property damage from government activities—EL's claim in a nut-

shell—does not give rise to a takings claim. Rather, takings claims lie only when the government physically invades private property or otherwise deprives the owner of all beneficial use of the property. Neither tort claims involving conflicting uses of property nor government acts that render private property less valuable have ever been actionable as "takings." The principles underlying these rules are fundamental and must be preserved lest every incidental or accidental effect of government conduct become the subject of constitutional litigation, displacing the Legislature's policy choices on when to afford relief to persons affected by public works projects.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Two types of government conduct can constitute a taking of property compensable under art. I, §13 of the Wisconsin Constitution—(1) physically invading or occupying the property, and (2) depriving the owner of substantially all of the property's value. See, e.g., Howell Plaza, Inc. v. State Highway Comm'n, 92 Wis. 2d 74, 81–82, 284 N.W.2d 887 (1979) ("Howell Plaza II"). The consequential effects

of government action do not otherwise give rise to a takings claim for just compensation.¹

EL claimed that the District's extraction of groundwater during sewer construction on an easement next to EL's property reduced the groundwater level under EL's property, which caused some of the building's wood foundational piles to decay (submersion preserves them) and ultimately fail, resulting in building settlement that required repair. The lower courts held that the District was constitutionally required to compensate EL for the cost of repairs to the property under art. I, § 13. A-165–66.²

The following issues are presented:

Issue 1. Whether the damages to EL's building were consequential damages for which there is no recovery under art. I, §13 of the Wisconsin Constitution?

The scope of conduct actionable as a Wis. Stat. §32.10 inverse condemnation claim is narrower than that actionable as a takings claim under art. I, §13. Zinn v. State, 112 Wis. 2d 417, 438, 334 N.W.2d 67 (1993). As a result, events giving rise to a claim under art. I, § 13 do not necessarily support a claim under Wis. Stat. §32.10. See infra Part V.

References to A-___ refer to Petitioner's appendix.

The circuit court held that a private landowner could maintain a takings claim for damage caused by the use of groundwater on the government's own land.

The court of appeals affirmed.

Issue 2. Under Wisconsin law, a land-owner has a right to capture groundwater on his own land, subject to a tort duty not to do so in a way that unreasonably harms his neighbors. State v. Michels Pipeline Constr., Inc., 63 Wis. 2d 278, 302–03a, 217 N.W.2d 339 (1974). Does the government take private property for public use under art. I, §13, if it breaches this tort duty by withdrawing groundwater in an amount that causes unreasonable harm to a neighboring private property?

The circuit court held that EL could recover as a "taking" damages caused by the District's extraction of groundwater.

The court of appeals affirmed.

Issue 3. Whether the United States Constitution's provisions regarding takings of property are applicable?

Neither the circuit court nor the court of appeals addressed this issue, because EL did

not preserve a federal takings claim. The issue is raised pursuant to this Court's May 12, 2009 order granting review.

Issue 4. Was the District's use of groundwater an "occupation" of EL's property, entitling EL to recover litigation expenses and attorney fees on an inverse condemnation claim under Wis. Stat. §32.10?

The circuit court first ruled that EL could recover for inverse condemnation under §32.10. Before trial, the court reconsidered and held that EL could not recover under §32.10 because EL failed to allege an occupation of property, as required by the statute. After trial, the court changed course again, ruling that, because EL had recovered on its art. I, §13 takings claim, it had satisfied §32.10's requirements.

The court of appeals affirmed.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

In granting review, the Court necessarily determined that the issues presented are of general importance and worthy of both argument and publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District is a municipal entity that provides wastewater treatment for 28 communities in a service area that covers over 400 square miles. Its wastewater system is composed of collection and interceptor sewers that convey wastewater to the District's treatment facilities and to its Deep Tunnel storage system. R. 4:1–3. The District continually expands and upgrades its infrastructure to ensure that it has sufficient physical capacity to meet the communities' wastewater treatment needs.

Since the implementation of the Water Pollution Abatement Program three decades ago, the District has constructed over \$3 billion of sewers and storage tunnels designed to ensure compliance with federal and state clean water laws. See generally City of Brookfield v. Milwaukee Metro. Sewerage Dist., 171 Wis. 2d 400, 491 N.W.2d 484 (1992). Those capital expenditures are principally funded by property taxes collected in the communities that the District serves.

A. Statement of facts relating to EL's "takings" claim for construction damages.

This case arises from the District's construction in 1987–1988 of the Crosstown 7 sewer (R.1:2), a "near-surface collector sewer" constructed for the District by Bowles Contracting Inc./Tomasini Construction Inc. Joint Venture ("BCI/TCI"). R.4:1–3. The sewer collects sewer overflow, diverts it away from the Menomonee River, and conveys it to a drop shaft leading to storage in the Deep Tunnel. R.4:1–3.

To construct this sewer, BCI/TCI dug a trench from the surface, installed 36-inch and 48-inch sewer sections in the trench, and then restored the surface. R.169:Ex.4. As is typical of these types of projects, the construction contract left construction "means and methods"—that is, the order of work, labor force, and types of equipment—to the contractor's discretion. R.169:Ex.5.

The trench had to be dry when the pipe was laid and concrete poured (R.169:Ex.6:2), and the District's contract with BCI/TCI required the contractor to meet specific worksite dryness standards, while limiting any ef-

fect on groundwater levels. R.169:Ex.6:1-4. The contractor's removal of groundwater during construction led to this case.

One portion of the sewer was constructed next to EL's building on North 12th Street in Milwaukee, between the Menomonee River and West St. Paul Avenue. built R.1:2. The building, in 1928 (R.184:122–23; R.185:80), was constructed on wood piles—long, wooden poles driven into the ground. R.184:47-49, 54. Concrete pile caps were poured on top of the piles, and the caps provided foundational support for the rest of the building. R.184:47-49, 54.

BCI/TCI constructed the sewer in the District's construction easement under a private alley next to the south wall of EL's building. R.169:Exs.2, 4:1552; R184.52–60. Neither BCI/TCI, the construction trench, nor the District ever touched EL's property. R.169:Exs.2, 4:1552.

When BCI/TCI approached EL's building, groundwater entered the construction trench and interrupted construction. R.183:91, 102; R.184:91. The construction contract assigned groundwater management

and control to BCI/TCI. R.169:Ex.6:1–4. Beginning October 26, 1987, BCI/TCI pumped water from the trench for 17 days in order to dry it sufficiently to allow construction to resume under safe conditions. R.169:Ex.10; R.183:99.

The contract also required BCI/TCI to avoid damage to neighboring buildings and to repair any damage caused by the removal of from the construction water site. R.169:Ex.6:3. Under the contract, BCI/TCI was responsible for any resulting damage to surrounding properties. R.169:6:3. After construction. BCI/TCI's insurer filled cracks EL identified in its building, installed new paneling, and repaired cracks in the adjacent parking lot. R.167:34-40.

Groundwater measurements at the time of construction in 1987 and when the sewer was completed in 1988 showed a groundwater level reduction near EL's building. R.169:Ex.253-9. The levels recovered over the course of the next two years. R.169:Ex.235-8; R.184:153.

Ten years after BCI/TCI completed the sewer's construction in 1988 (R.169:Ex.8:191),

EL's owner began monitoring the building's settlement rate. R.169:Ex.39:EL979; R.183:41-42. In 2001, EL hired an engineer to examine the building's foundational piles. R.168:30-32; R.184:39-40.

EL did not notify the District of any building damage until September (R.1:5), the same year EL began repairing the building (R.184:75). EL's engineer determined that the tops of 14 wood piles under the building's south wall (and the first piles north of each corner) had rotted and were no able the building. longer to support To repair the problem, dam-R.184:52–60. aged portions of these piles were sawed off and replaced with concrete. R.184:52-60. After the foundation was repaired, EL also had to repair damage to the southeast corner of the building. R.184:75-83.

The repairs ultimately cost \$309,388, including EL's attorney fees incurred litigating with a neighbor, who owned the adjacent alley and refused access to make the repairs. A-166. EL continued to lease the building throughout the entire period. A-166.

B. Procedural status and lower court disposition.

In June 2004, EL filed this lawsuit against the District and CNA Insurance Companies, the insurer for the now-defunct BCI/TCI. R.1. EL principally pleaded tort claims—negligence, continuing nuisance, and inverse condemnation claims against the District and negligence and nuisance claims against CNA. R.1. It also pleaded a claim for "inverse condemnation" against the District. R.1.

CNA settled EL's negligence and nuisance claims against BCI/TCI in a confidential agreement. R.114.

The circuit court dismissed EL's negligence and nuisance claims against the District under Wis. Stat. §893.80(4)'s governmental immunity provision. R.102. The circuit court also initially dismissed EL's inverse condemnation claim, but allowed EL to present its takings claim under art. I, §13 to a jury. A-064–66, 075.

Over the District's objection (R.186:9-10), the circuit court instructed the jury that "[d]rawing water out of the ground on one

piece of land can result in drawing groundwater away from neighboring land," and "[g]roundwater is considered property of the person who owns the land under which it flows." A-160.

The jury found that the District's removal of groundwater was unreasonable and that the District had accomplished a taking. A-164-65. While making clear that the District's contractors removed water from "the construction trench near EL's property" (A-164), the special verdict asked the jury whether "the District remove[d] the groundwater EL needed to keep the wood piles under the south end of its building saturated enough to support the building" (A-164). The jury answered "yes." A-164. The jury awarded EL \$309,388, the amount of the foundation repairs, plus other incidental repair costs. A-166.

After trial the circuit court reconsidered its earlier ruling dismissing EL's §32.10 inverse condemnation claim. A-099–101. The court concluded that §32.10 entitled EL to recover its litigation expenses and attorney fees under §32.28(3)(c). A-099–101; 154–55.

The District appealed. The court of appeals affirmed. 2009 WI App 15, 763 N.W.2d 231.

ARGUMENT

I. Consequential Damage to Private Property Is Not a "Taking" Compensable Under Article I, §13.

Article I, §13 of Wisconsin Constitution provides, "The property of no person shall be taken for public use without just compensation therefor." This Court has limited takings claims to two types: (1) physical invasions—the government's physical occupation or appropriation of property, and (2) "regulatory takings"—non-invasive government conduct that deprives a property owner of all or substantially all economically beneficial use of the property. See R.W. Docks & Slips v. State, 2001 WI 73, ¶14, 244 Wis. 2d 497, 628 N.W.2d 781; Zinn v. State, 112 Wis. 2d 417, 424, 334 N.W.2d 67 (1983).

Within each of these two categories, whether the law recognizes a compensable taking depends on the nature of the property right, the extent to which the government's conduct affects that right, and for how long it does so. See R.W. Docks, 2001 WI 73, ¶¶19-26. The paradigmatic taking "is a direct government appropriation or physical invasion." Lingle v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc., 544 U.S. 528, 537 (2005). A permanent physical invasion requires compensation "however minimal the economic cost it entails, [because it] eviscerates the owner's right to exclude others from entering and using her property—perhaps the most fundamental of all property interests." Id. at 539; see also Wis. Builders Ass'n v. Wis. Dep't of Transp., 2005 WI App 160, ¶36, 285 Wis. 2d 472, 702 N.W.2d 433 (quoting *Lingle*, 544 U.S. at 536).

In contrast, non-invasive government conduct, whether through activity or regulation, can amount to a taking only if the conduct renders the entire property valueless or so greatly interferes with the beneficial use of the property as to be "[the] functional[] equivalent to the classic taking." *Lingle*, 544

U.S. at 539; see also R.W. Docks, 2001 WI 73, ¶17; Zinn, 112 Wis. 2d at 424; Wis. Power & Light Co. v. Columbia County, 3 Wis. 2d 1, 7, 87 N.W.2d 279 (1958).

These two lines—(1) between invasive and non-invasive government conduct; and (2) between the effects of non-invasive government conduct that incidentally impair only a portion of the property and those effects that deprive an owner of substantially all beneficial use of the property—are of paramount importance to ensuring that not all negative externalities of government conduct become constitutional torts. See Zealy v. City of Waukesha, 201 Wis. 2d 365, 373, 548 N.W.2d 528 (1996). Because sovereign immunity "has only limited applicability to actions against the state which allege a constitutional taking of private property without just compensation," Zinn, 112 Wis. 2d at 435, faithful adherence to these lines is necessary to preserve the Constitution's delegation to the Legislature of the power to "direct by law in what manner and in what courts suits may be brought against the state." Wis. Const. art. IV, §27. A takings remedy unbounded by

the type of government conduct or the magnitude of its effects would quickly displace the Legislature's constitutional authority to decide when to compensate individuals for the tortious (or regulatory) effects of government conduct. Article I, §13's history and precedent preserve legislative decisionmaking except when the government physically invades private property or deprives the owner of substantially all beneficial use of it.

EL did not claim, nor was there evidence or a finding, that the District entered or occupied EL's building or grounds. claimed—and the jury found—that the District's removal \mathbf{of} groundwater its neighboring property lowered the groundwater level under EL's building, which exposed the building's wood foundational piles to air, caused them to decay, and eventually resulted in their failure to support the building's south wall adequately. EL's evidence, taken in its most favorable light, proved consequential damages, rather than a taking. These consequential damages could result from the similar activity of any neighbor and

are wholly unrelated to the District's governmental character.

A. For more than a century this Court has refused to treat claims that the government tortiously damaged private property as constitutional "takings."

"Governmental action which merely causes damage to private property is not the basis for compensation." Zinn, 112 Wis. 2d at 424; see also Colclough v. Milwaukee, 92 Wis. 182, 65 N.W. 1039 (1896). Indeed, as far back as 1862, this Court held that damages to private docks caused by the City's creation of a channel between the Milwaukee River and Lake Michigan did not give rise to a taking. See Alexander v. Milwaukee, 16 Wis. 264, 273 (1862); see also Dore v. Milwaukee, 42 Wis. 108, 116 (1877).

And, over a century ago, this Court said that "[p]erhaps no rule of law is more completely settled than is the rule that if consequential damages result to property owners from [governmental conduct] . . . it is not a taking of private property for public use, within the meaning of sec. 13, art. 1, of the constitution." *Smith v. City of Eau Claire*, 78

Wis. 457, 459, 47 N.W. 830 (1891). Nor has this clear, fundamental rule been undercut in the intervening years. See City of Janesville v. CC Midwest, Inc., 2007 WI 93, ¶¶16-17, 302 Wis. 2d 599, 734 N.W.2d 428 (consequential damages are not recoverable under the just compensation clause); Howell Plaza II, 92 Wis. 2d at 80 ("[i]ncidental damage to property resulting from governmental activities ... [are] not considered a taking of property for which compensation must be made." (quoting State ex rel. Carter v. Harper, 182 Wis. 148, 153, 196 N.W. 451 (1923)); More-Way N. Corp. v. State Highway Comm'n, 44 Wis. 2d 165, 170 N.W.2d 749 (1969) (road grade change removing parking stalls was consequential damage not recoverable as taking); Wis. Power, 3 Wis. 2d at 6 ("consequential damage to property resulting from governmental action is not a taking thereof").

1. EL claimed and proved consequential damages, not takings.

EL's complaint about what the District did to it is that, by removing groundwater from a construction trench—both during construction and as a result of the construction's design—the District's contractor caused wood foundational piles supporting a portion of EL's neighboring building to fail. Revealing this tort claim's true nature, EL sued the contractor's insurer for negligence and nuisance, recovering an undisclosed amount in settlement.

As against the District, the jury found that "the removal of groundwater from E-L's property cause[d] the building to settle." A-165. The jury awarded \$309,388 based, as instructed by the circuit court, on building repairs caused by this extraction of groundwater from the District's neighboring construction site. As the court of appeals acknowledged, "the jury . . . knew from the instruction that it had to consider the *effect* of the diversion of the groundwater on E-L Enterprises's property." 2009 WI App 15, ¶19 (emphasis added).

Further showing the true nature of EL's claim, the lower courts permitted EL to recover as damages attorney fees and expenses EL incurred because, in order to repair its building, it first had to sue its neighbor, who would not allow EL to use an easement over a

neighboring alley. Applying the rule that consequential damages are recoverable from private tortfeasors, the court of appeals held that "the expenditure of legal fees caused by someone causing damages are recoverable by the injured party." *Id.* ¶20.

EL's claim, as a matter of law, was premised on recovering consequential damages caused by the District's sewer construction. That claim is barred by the many decisions of this Court cited above, which hold that consequential damage caused by non-invasive government conduct is not a taking of property for public use under art. I, §13.

2. That consequential damages are not recoverable as "takings" is a soundly based rule that merits retention.

Two principles justify the consequential damages rule.

First, the Constitution's text requires compensation only when the government takes private property "for public use." Wis. Const. art. I, §13. As the U.S. Supreme Court has explained of the Fifth Amendment's similarly-worded takings clause, "[t]he Clause ex-

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