RECEIVED 07-17-2009

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN No. 2008AP921

E-L ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

MILWAUKEE METROPOLITAN SEWERAGE DISTRICT,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Petition for Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District I Appeal From the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County, Circuit Court Case No. 04-CV-005505, The Honorable Richard J. Sankovitz, Presiding

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT E-L ENTERPRISES, INC.

KERKMAN & DUNN Jerome R. Kerkman (WBN 1005832) Susan A. Cerbins (WBN 1018953) Joseph R. Cincotta (WBN 1023024) 757 N. Broadway, Suite 300 Milwaukee, WI 53202-3612 (414) 277-8200

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

The previous cases exemplify how the Supreme Court views a physical invasion as "a government intrusion of an unusually serious character." *Loretto* at 433. Due to the egregious character of a physical invasion, the U.S. Supreme Court has "uniformly found a taking to the extent of the occupation" whenever a physical occupation exists. *Id.* at 434.

(2) The District's Physical Taking of E-L's Groundwater From the Adjacent Property Is a *Per Se* Taking.

In this case, the District argues "that non-invasive government conduct does not result in [a] takings." Brief at 54. Though it was not pumping the water directly from E-L's property, the District's actions physically drained E-L's groundwater. This "non-invasive" act resulted in a direct physical invasion and permanent occupation of the Plaintiff's groundwater. Because this removal is a physical invasion that permanently occupies E-L's property, the District's actions

constitute a *per se* taking of property that requires compensation to be paid under federal law.

The Ohio Supreme Court's *McNamara* decision emphasized that a direct physical invasion of a landowner's property is not required to establish a taking, only government interference with a property right is required. *McNamara* at ¶29. (citing the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Dugan v. Rank,* 372 U.S. 609 (1963))(government interference with water rights results in a taking); see *also Griggs v. Allegheny County,* 369 U.S. 84, 89-90 (1962)(landowner right in airspace above its property is taken where airport-related noise interferes with landowner's right).

These Supreme Court cases support the conclusion that the District's taking of E-L's groundwater violates the 5th Amendment's mandate that private property not be taken for public use without just compensation. The *Loretto* court held that any physical permanent occupation by the government, no matter how minor or trivial, constitutes a taking for which compensation is due. *Loretto* at 430. *McNamara* and cases cited therein held that direct physical invasion is not required for a taking. Federal precedent does not support the District's contention that no taking occurred because it removed the groundwater in E-L's land by pumping on adjacent property.

(3) The District's Violation of the Fifth Amendment Is Also A Violation of the Wisconsin Constitution and Section 32.10 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

The Wisconsin Constitution mirrors the 5th Amendment. Article I, §13,

provides that "[t]he property of no person shall be taken for public use without just

compensation thereof."

E-L sought compensation under the Wisconsin Constitution and Wis. Stats.

§32.10 for the taking of its groundwater. Section 32.10 states the following:

If any property has been occupied by a person possessing the power of condemnation and if the person has not exercised the power, [after the owner has taken certain procedural steps].... The court shall make a finding of whether the defendant is occupying the property of the plaintiff without having the right to do so

The terms "occupied" and "occupying" are equivalent to "took" and "taking." *See Howell Plaza I* at 723. The synonymous language makes the state remedies under §32.10 and the Wisconsin Constitution parallel to the federal remedy under the 5th Amendment.

If the terms were not synonymous and the remedies not parallel, then E-L

would have invoked federal law under 42 U.S.C. §1983 for a violation of its 5th

Amendment right applicable to the State by the 14th Amendment. *See Melnick v.*

City of Menasha, 200 Wis.2d 737, 743-44, 547 N.W.2d 778 (Ct. App. 1996).

However, since E-L had remedies for the District's taking under Wisconsin law, the parallel federal remedy under 42 U.S.C. §1983 is not available. *See, e.g., SGB Financial Services, Inc. v. Consolidated City of Indianapolis-Marion Co.,* 235 F.3d 1036 (7th Cir. 2000)(holding that a takings claim does not accrue under
the 5th Amendment, which is applicable to the states by the 14th Amendment, until available state remedies have been tried and proven futile). E-L never "abandoned" its 5th Amendment rights as the District asserts. Brief at 48. Rather, its rights are not yet ripe.

The District's deliberate and permanent taking of E-L's groundwater for a use that benefits the public by pumping groundwater four feet from E-L's property line is a Constitutional taking under both the 5th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and Article I, §13 of the Wisconsin Constitution. However, E-L's Federal remedies are not available to it. E-L must first be denied compensation for the taking. Presently, E-L's rights only arise under the Wisconsin Constitution and §32.10.

C. A Government Is Required To Pay Just Compensation For a Groundwater Taking, Regardless of The Impact On The Public Fisc.

The District threatens that this Court's recognition of its groundwater removal as a taking "will subject any government entity that designs, constructs or operates a sewer, well, tunnel, or similar project to takings claims of "unlimited duration and scope". Brief at 54. The District anticipates project cost increases and a rise in takings claims which cannot be barred on the basis of sovereign immunity. While a decision in favor of E-L may lead to similar takings claims where the government acted deliberately, knowing the consequences of its action, additional cost to the District does not outweigh a fundamental Constitutional right.

30

Moreover, the District controls the planning, construction and

implementation of its projects. It can anticipate many, if not most, problems. It can take cost-effective measures to prevent groundwater takings. In this case, it anticipated the de-watering but chose to push the burden of the project to E-L. It did not tell E-L about the de-watering. R.184:27-30. This callous indifference to private property rights is troubling. In the end, the public fisc would have been better served by the institution of relatively inexpensive corrective measures.

If the Court, upon review of the record, the briefs and oral arguments, affirms that a taking occurred when the District de-watered E-L's property, then just compensation is due E-L and any other landowner whose rights are similarly taken. This is true regardless of the fact that a decision in favor of E-L might result in increased project costs and/or a rise in groundwater takings claims, as threatened by the District.

D. Property Rights Are Constitutionally Protected.

The District asserts that state laws, including those requiring Wisconsin Department of Revenue ("DNR") review and approval of its construction plans, adequately protect private landowners' rights in groundwater. It does not specify how. The sole purpose of Federal and State takings clauses is to ensure that the government compensates private landowners when it takes their property for a public use. Implicit in the adoption of the takings clauses was the recognition that governments, in their legitimate advancement of the public interest, often infringe on the property rights of private property owners. The takings provisions ensure

31

that private property owners are not at the State's mercy in these cases; their property rights are constitutionally protected.

E. Government Entities Are Able To Anticipate Takings Payments In Determining Project Costs.

According to the District, the Court's affirmation of E-L's groundwater taking claim will open the floodgates. It argues that "properties potentially affected by groundwater level changes might later be the subject of costly takings litigation, the limits to what those projects may one day cost will be unknowable." Brief at 55-6.

As discussed above, the District could have avoided costly litigation in this case (and possibly others) by taking certain simple, inexpensive measures to address de-watering. Moreover, government entities have always been required to factor takings payments into the cost of projects where private property is taken. The argument that project costs will be too difficult to anticipate, creating uncertainty, was rejected by the Supreme Court in *Dugan*, where the Court found no uncertainty in valuing riparian rights. *Dugan* at 623.

3. Section 32.10 Applies to the District's Taking of E-L's Groundwater.

A. The Lower Courts Properly Applied §32.10.

The District argues that its taking of E-L's groundwater was not within *Wis*. *Stats.* §32.10 because the District did not physically enter onto E-L's property, but rather took the groundwater by pumping it out from the adjacent property.

The District cites *Zinn v. State*, 112 Wis. 2d 417, 334 N.W.2d 67 (1983) in support of its argument that §32.10 applies only to what it calls "traditional invasion takings." Brief at 62.

In *Zinn*, the DNR ruled that the legal high water mark of Zinn's lake was higher than the actual water level. The effect of the ruling was to make the lake itself, "on paper", considerably bigger, and the legal boundary of Zinn's property smaller. The ruling affected a taking of the Zinn property because the regulatory ruling rendered the property unavailable for private use and enjoyment, and because the State asserted title under the public trust doctrine to the actual property involved. *Id.* at 421. Soon thereafter, the DNR reversed its ruling. *Id.* at 422. Zinn then sued for just compensation for the temporary taking directly under Article 1, §13 of the Wisconsin Constitution. *Id.*

This Court allowed the claim and analyzed the applicability of §32.10 to Zinn's taking claim. This Court stated:

Sec. 32.10, Stats., allows a landowner, who believes that his or her property has been taken by the government without instituting formal condemnation proceedings, to commence an action to recover just compensation for the taking. This remedy is based on Art. I, sec. 13 of the Wisconsin Constitution, *Howell Plaza*, 66 Wis.2d at 723, 226 N.W.2d 185 (1975), and is the legislative direction as to how the mandate of the just compensation clause is to be fulfilled.

Zinn at 432-33.

The Court found that §32.10 did not apply because it is designed to address circumstances where there is a permanent taking of property; that is, where, "the

government has occupied private property, plans to continue such occupation and the landowner is merely requesting just payment for this land." *Zinn* at 433-4.

The District argues that *Zinn* precludes the use of §32.10 (in circumstances such as those here) because it ruled that there was no "occupation" that resulted from DNR's order. From this, the District argues that because *Zinn* found no "occupation" due to DNR's actions, neither is there an "occupation" due to the District's actual taking of E-L's groundwater.

This analysis misreads and misapplies *Zinn* and §32.10. *Zinn* does not address the scope of occupation. Rather, its ruling that §32.10 was inapplicable was based on the *temporary* nature of the government's occupation, not that there was not an occupation (or taking).

Further, the plain language of §32.10 shows it is designed to cover takings of property or interests in property:

If any property has been occupied by a person possessing the power of condemnation and if the person has not exercised the power, the owner, to institute condemnation proceedings, shall present a verified petition to the circuit judge of the county wherein the land is situated asking that such proceedings be commenced. The petition shall describe the land, state the person against which the condemnation proceedings are instituted and the use to which it has been put or is designed to have been put by the person against which the proceedings are instituted. *A copy of the petition shall be served upon the person who has occupied petitioner's land, or interest in land.* The petition shall be filed in the office of the clerk of the circuit court and thereupon the matter shall be deemed an action at law and at issue, with petitioner as plaintiff and the occupying person as defendant.

Wis. Stats. §32.10 [Emphasis added.]

As described below, §32.10 and indeed the entirety of Chapter 32 applies to

interests in land:

(2) "Property" includes estates in lands, fixtures and personal property directly connected with lands.

The precedent that addresses §32.10 supports the findings of the trial court and court of appeals that the District's taking of E-L's groundwater was an occupation within the meaning of §32.10.

Reel Enterprises v. City of La Crosse, 146 Wis. 2d 662, 431 N.W.2d 743

(Ct. App. 1988), addressed the standard for finding that a government regulation

amounts to a "regulatory taking" of private property. The court explained the rule

in the context of a claim by plaintiffs that their property had been "occupied and

taken." Id. at 670-71[Emphasis added.] The claim was based on the loss of value

due to a restrictive flood plain ordinance limiting use and development of portions

of plaintiff's property. Id. at 669. The court's analysis is pertinent:

However, a taking may result from official activities not involving outright seizure or physical invasion. Restrictive regulation, whether by the state, a county or municipality, may constitute a "regulatory taking"

Id. at 671-2.

With that as a basis, the court discussed the framework of takings law:

In the absence of its physical occupancy or possession, private property can be taken for public use only by state, county or municipal action which imposes a legally enforceable restriction on the use of the property. If a legally enforceable restriction is imposed on that use, then a taking occurs only if the restriction deprives the owner of all, or practically all, of the use. *If a regulatory taking has occurred, an action lies for inverse condemnation under sec. 32.10, Stats.*, or for compensation under Wis. Const. art. I, sec. 13, whether the taking is *permanent or temporary.*

Id. at 674-5 [Emphasis added.]

Under this language, the court recognized that regulatory takings can occur,

and indeed almost always occur, in the context of an inverse condemnation by the

public authority. In addition, by holding that such a non-physical invasion type taking is properly pursued under §32.10, the court necessarily acknowledged that the term "occupy" within §32.10 must be read to encompass a broader range of "takings" than those that result only from permanent physical occupation of the actual real property involved.

Reel Enterprises imposed a relatively higher standard on private property owners in making claims for so-called regulatory takings, and ultimately determined that no taking had been alleged. *Id.* at 672. *Reel Enterprises* has been overruled in part by the Supreme Court's decision in *Eberle v. Dane County Board of Adjustment*, 227 Wis. 2d 609, ¶37 (1999). While this may seem problematic, the rulings in *Eberle* actually affirm and support the underlying holding of *Reel Enterprises* with respect to the applicability of §32.10 to regulatory, and more generally, all permanent takings, whether based on express "occupation," "invasion" or an actual taking or appropriation of property. Significantly, *Eberle* did *not* alter the *Reel Enterprises* holding that §32.10 applies to "non-occupation" regulatory takings. *Eberle* reversed *Reel Enterprises*' more restrictive standard for when a regulatory taking has occurred, and in so doing is an expansion of private property rights in the context of inverse condemnation claims.

Eberle also confirmed that permanent takings, whether occurring through actual occupation, invasion, and actual taking or appropriation or through a regulatory non-occupation government action, are controlled by §32.10. *Id.* at 635, n.27.

36

The nature of the taking in *Eberle* was temporary, and the court's

holding therefore only directly addresses and upholds the claim for a

temporary regulatory taking directly under Article I, §13, of the Wisconsin

Constitution. However, in its analysis the court explained that if a

regulatory taking is *permanent*, it is properly pursued under §32.10. Id. at

¶47.

The Court also noted:

It should be noted that in concluding that the plaintiffs' regulatory taking claim was not ripe in *Hoepker*... we reasoned, in part, that "the legislature has established a procedure for inverse condemnation through which an individual may seek compensation for a regulatory taking. *See Wis. Stats.* 32.10. The [plaintiffs] have not utilized this procedure." . . . In light of references in the opinion to a "temporary regulatory taking," this language may appear to suggest that §32.10 provides a remedy for a temporary taking.

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